ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC12-482 Lower Tribunal No.: 2004-01378 CFAWS

TROY VICTORINO

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher J. Anderson, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 0976385 2217 Florida Boulevard, Suite A Neptune Beach, FL 32266 (904) 246-4448 christopheranderson@clearwire.net Court-Appointed Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of a trial Court order denying Appellant's Rule 3.851, Fla. R. Crim. P. Amended, Initial Motion for Post-Conviction Relief in a death-penalty case. Such motion appears at Volume 4, pages 391-515 of the Record on Appeal for *this* appeal. However, for ease of reading, that denied motion is referred to simply as the "subject motion." This appeal contains references to the record on appeal created for the subject post-conviction motion proceedings. They are designated by the letter "PCR" followed by the applicable record volume number, followed by the applicable record page numbers which are stamped at the bottom of each page of the record on appeal.

The appeal also contains references to the prior record of the original jury trial proceedings. They are designated by the letter "R" followed by the applicable record volume number, followed by the clerk's record-on-appeal page numbers (bottom of page).

The Defendant Troy Victorino is referred to primarily as "Defendant," but sometimes also as "Appellant" or "Victorino."

The trial Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the subject motion.

PCR2, p. 84-235. For brevity, it is referred to simply as the "evidentiary hearing" in this brief. The trial Court order denying the subject motion (PCR 6, p. 759-

784) –the Order being appealed here— is formally titled <u>Amended Final Order</u>

<u>Denying Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief</u>. It referred to as simply the subject "denial order." (PCR6, p. 803-827).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a death-penalty case. Defendant Troy Victorino was convicted of murdering six individuals in a house located on Telford Lane in Deltona, Florida. R9, p. 1531-1555 & R9, p. 1558-1559. All six murders occurred in a single episode the evening of August 6, 2004. *See* Victorino v. State, 23 So.3d 87, 91 (Fla. 2009). The Defendant remains incarcerated under sentences of death for four of the murders and sentences of life without the possibility of parole for the remaining two murders. R1, p. 29-34 & R9, p. 1531-1555. Victorino v. State, 23 So.3d 87 (Fla. 2009).

This Florida Supreme Court provided a narrative summary of the evidence presented in Defendant's jury trial in its direct-appeal Opinion in <u>Victorino v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 23 So.3d 87 (Fla. 2009) as follows:

On August 27, 2004, Victorino was charged in a fourteen-count superseding indictment that included six counts of first-degree murder in the deaths of Erin Belanger, Roberto Gonzalez, Michelle Nathan, Anthony Vega, Jonathon Gleason, and Francisco "Flaco" Ayo-Roman. Victorino, with codefendants Jerone Hunter and Michael Salas, went to trial on July 5, 2006.[fn1] Codefendant Robert Anthony Cannon previously pleaded guilty as charged.

A. The Guilt Phase

The evidence presented at trial established that the August 6, 2004, murders were the culmination of events that began several days before. On Friday, July 30, Erin Belanger contacted police concerning suspicious activity at her grandmother's vacant house on Providence Boulevard in Deltona. Without the owner's permission, Victorino and Hunter had recently moved into the home with their belongings. On Saturday, Belanger again contacted police; this time she reported that several items were missing from her grandmother's house.

Late Saturday night, Victorino appeared at Belanger's own residence on Telford Lane. He demanded the return of his belongings, which he believed Belanger had taken from the Providence Boulevard residence. Shortly after leaving Belanger's residence early on the morning of Sunday, August 1, Victorino contacted law enforcement to report the theft of his belongings from the Providence Boulevard residence. The responding officer advised Victorino that he had to provide a list of the stolen property. This angered Victorino, and he said, "I'll take care of this myself."

A short time later, Victorino met Brandon Graham and codefendants Cannon and Salas, who were in Cannon's Ford Expedition (the SUV). Codefendant Hunter and several young women were also in the SUV. Victorino told them that Belanger and the other occupants of the Telford Lane house had stolen his belongings and that he wanted them to go fight Belanger and the others. According to Graham, Victorino and the occupants of the SUV all Page 92 went in the SUV to the Telford Lane residence. While Victorino remained in the SUV, the young women went into the residence armed with knives. The young men stood outside holding baseball bats, and Hunter yelled for the occupants to come out and fight. The group left in Cannon's SUV, however, after victim Ayo-Roman yelled "policia."

A few days later, on the evening of Wednesday, August 4,

Victorino went to a park with Graham and the three codefendants to fight another group. Evidence was presented that some of the members of that group were affiliated with the victims at Telford Lane and would have knowledge of Victorino's allegedly stolen property. When their foes failed to show up, Victorino and his associates drove back to a house on Fort Smith Boulevard' in Deltona where Victorino and Hunter now lived. As they arrived, however, Victorino spotted the car of the group with which the fight was planned and directed Cannon, who was driving, to chase the car. Victorino fired a gunshot at the fleeing car and then told Cannon to take him home.

The following morning, Thursday, August 5, Graham, Salas, and Cannon met with Victorino and Hunter at their residence. There, Victorino outlined the following plan to obtain his belongings from Belanger. Victorino said that he had seen a movie named Wonderland in which a group carrying lead pipes ran into a home and beat the occupants to death. Victorino stated that he would do the same thing at the Telford Lane residence. He asked Graham, Salas, and Cannon if they "were down for it" and said to Hunter, "I know you're down for it" because Hunter had belongings stolen as well. All agreed with Victorino's plan. Victorino described the layout of the Telford Lane residence and who would go where. Victorino said that he particularly wanted to "kill Flaco," and told the group, "You got to beat the bitches bad." Graham described Victorino as "calm, cool-headed." Hunter asked if they should wear masks; Victorino responded, "No, because we're not gonna leave any evidence. We're gonna kill them all."

Victorino and his associates then left in Cannon's SUV to search for bullets for the gun that Victorino fired the previous night. While driving, the group further discussed their plan and decided that each of them needed a change of clothes because their clothes would get bloody. The group dropped Graham off at his friend Kristopher Craddock's house. Graham avoided the group's subsequent calls and did not participate in the murders.

Around midnight on Thursday, August 5, a witness saw Victorino, Salas, Cannon, and Hunter near the murder scene on Telford Lane. Cannon, a State witness, testified that he and Salas went because they were afraid Victorino would kill them if they did not. Cannon further testified that he, Victorino, Hunter, and Salas entered the victims' home on the night of the murders armed with baseball bats.

On the morning of Friday, August 6, a coworker of two of the victims discovered the six bodies at the Belanger residence and called 911. Officers responding to the 911 call arrived to find the six victims in various rooms. The victims had been beaten to death with baseball bats and had sustained cuts to their throats, most of which were inflicted postmortem. Belanger also sustained postmortem lacerations through her vagina up to the abdominal cavity of her body, which were consistent with having been inflicted by a baseball bat. The medical examiner determined that most of the victims had defensive wounds. The front door had been kicked in with such force that it broke the deadbolt lock and left a footwear impression on the door. Footwear impressions were also Page 93 recovered from two playing cards, a bed sheet, and a pay stub. All of these impressions were linked to Victorino's Lugz boots. Furthermore, DNA testing linked bloodstains on Victorino's Lugz boots to several of the victims. A dead dachshund, a knife handle, and a bloody knife blade were also recovered from the crime scene.

On Saturday, August 7, the day after the murders were discovered, Victorino was arrested on a probation violation at his residence on Fort Smith Boulevard. Hunter, who was present at the time, complied with the officers' request that he come to the sheriffs office. Once there, Hunter described his role in the murders. That same day, Cannon's SUV was seized. From it, officers recovered a pair of sunglasses containing victim Ayo-Roman's fingerprint. In addition, glass fragments found in the vehicle were consistent with glass from a broken lamp at the crime scene.

When questioned by officers, Salas admitted to being at the crime scene on the night of the murders and stated that Cannon drove there

with Victorino, Hunter, and Salas. Salas also described his role in the murders and told officers where the bats had been discarded at a retention pond. Based on that information, law enforcement authorities recovered two bats from the pond and two bats from surrounding trees. The two bats recovered from surrounding trees contained DNA material that was linked to at least four of the victims.

At trial, Victorino testified in his defense. He admitted that he believed that Belanger had taken his property from the Providence Boulevard residence. However, he denied meeting Graham, Cannon, or Salas at his residence on August 5, testifying instead that he was at work. He further denied committing the murders and offered an alibi — that he was at a night-club on the night of the murders. Two friends testified on behalf of Victorino and corroborated his alibi.

Hunter and Salas also testified in their defense. Each described his role in the murders and corroborated the other testimony and evidence offered at trial, including the evidence of the meeting at which Victorino planned the murders and the agreement to participate. They further testified that Victorino attempted to establish an alibi by making an appearance at the nightclub.

On July 25, 2006, Victorino was convicted of six counts of first-degree murder (Counts II-VII); one count of abuse of a dead human body (Count VIII); one count of armed burglary of a dwelling (Count XIII); one count of conspiracy (to commit aggravated battery, murder, armed burglary of a dwelling, and tampering with physical evidence) (Count I); and one count of cruelty to an animal (Count XIV).

B. The Penalty Phase

At the beginning of the penalty phase, the trial court informed the jury of the parties' stipulation that Victorino was on felony probation for aggravated battery at the time of the murders. After the State introduced victim impact statements by the victims' family members,

the defendant presented several witnesses.

Victorino began by presenting the testimony of three expert witnesses. Dr. Joseph Wu, a psychiatrist, concluded that a PET (Positron Emission Tomography) scan revealed Victorino's brain was abnormal, evidencing lower than normal frontal lobe activity. While he did not make a diagnosis, he said that the scan was consistent with traumatic brain injury or mental health conditions, such as bipolar disorder or schizophrenia. After reviewing Victorino's records and conducting numerous tests, Dr. Charles Golden, a neuropsychologist, Page 94 determined that Victorino has some frontal lobe impairment and severe emotional problems. Although Victorino has average intelligence and knows right from wrong, he performed poorly on executive function tests, has difficulty with interpersonal relationships, and has poor coping skills. Dr. Golden opined that the test results were consistent with Victorino's personal history of physical abuse, difficulty in controlling his aggression, and lack of mental health treatment. Finally, the third defense expert, Dr. Jeffrey Danziger, a psychiatrist, testified that Victorino has an IQ of 101 and outlined Victorino's long history of physical and emotional abuse by his father, an incident of sexual abuse, his history of mental health problems (including his several suicide attempts), and his time in prison.

Several relatives and friends also testified. Victorino's brother and mother also told of Victorino's mental health problems, an instance of sexual abuse, and the frequent physical abuse by his father. In addition, two friends testified about their regard for him.

In rebuttal, the State presented Dr. Lawrence Holder, an expert in radiology and nuclear medicine. He testified that Victorino's PET scan was normal. Further, he stated that use of a PET scan to suggest that a patient has a specific mental health problem, such as bipolar disorder, is not an established clinical use of such scans.

<u>Victorino v. State</u>, 23 So.3d 87 (Fla. 2009), at Pages 91-95

As further stated by this Florida Supreme Court in its same <u>Victorino v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 23 So.3d 87, 94 (Fla. 2009) Opinion:

The jury recommended life sentences for the murders of Michelle Nathan and Anthony Vega and death sentences for the murders of Erin Belanger (by a vote of ten to two), Francisco Ayo-Roman (by a vote of ten to two), Jonathan Gleason (by a vote of seven to five), and Roberto Gonzalez (by a vote of nine to three).

On September 21, 2006, the trial court followed the jury's recommendations by imposing four death sentences.

Special facts especially relevant to the question of "prejudice":

Under Fla. Stand. Jury Instr. (Crim) 7.11 the jury is required to deliver a "life" sentence recommendation whenever six or more jurors vote for life. In this vein, it is significant that none of Defendant's jury sentencing recommendations were unanimous: not the jury "life" sentence recommendations and not the jury "death" sentence recommendations. As indicated in this Florida Supreme Court's decision in Victorino v. State, 23 So.3d 87, 94 (Fla. 2009) the Defendant got jury "life" sentence recommendations for the murders of Michelle Nathan and Anthony Vega. Defendant missed getting jury "life" sentence recommendations for the murders of Erin Berlanger and Francisco Ayo-Roman by just four juror votes; He missed getting a jury "life" sentence recommendation

for the murder of Robert Gonzales by just three juror votes; He missed getting a jury "life" sentence recommendation for the murder of Jonathan Gleason by just one juror vote.

Without a doubt, the murders were very brutal. At first glance, it may be difficult to imagine how the Defendant even managed to get even two jury "life" recommendations. However, review of record reveals significant weaknesses in the State's case as well as some very strong mitigation in Defendant Victorino's favor. The biggest glitch in the State's case was the abridged testimony of crimeparticipant-turned-State-witness Robert Anthony Cannon. He testified that he himself was not guilty (R30, p. 1941) and that he and his other codefendants all complied with Victorino's plan to kill the occupants of the Telford house and all thereafter entered the Telford house armed with baseball bats because they were afraid of Victorino. R30, p. 1941, 1953. After saying all of these very damaging things, Cannon "shut down" and refused to answer cross-examination questions. R30, 1946, 1954-1960, 1969. Victorino's trial counsel failed to timely move for mistrial.

A significant event which preceded the subject, Telford Lane murders by seven days was the theft of Defendant's belongings from another house located on Providence Boulevard. R31, p. 2136-2139. Defendant asked the police to

help him recover his property (R3, p. 2136-2140). Deputy John McDonald of the Volusia County Sheriff's Office testified that after he instructed Troy Victorino to check his property and compile a list of his missing items, Troy Victorino replied that he had worked hard for his stuff and would take care of the problem himself. R31, p. 2140-2142; R39, p. 3220.

Codefendant Michael Salas testified that he and codefendant Jerone Hunter went to the Telford Lane house on August 1 (five days before the subject murders). Some young women who accompanied them yelled to the house occupants, "Where's Troy's stuff?" The young women "stormed" into the house and exited it awhile later with Troy Victorino's CD case. A male individual with the street name of "Abi G" and his twin brother were seen in the screened-in patio of the Telford Lane (murder scene) house with a baseball bat. (R40, p. 3454-3456).

Two days before the subject murders, codefendants Michael Salas complained about getting "jumped" by some rivals. R31, p. 2167. Codefendant Salas testified that on August 5, the day before the subject incident, both he and Cannon were beaten by some rivals R40, p. 3466-3470. Cannon had to take a day off of work to see a doctor for his injuries. R40, p. 3487. Michael Salas wanted a "rematch" with these assailants who are identified solely by their street names of

"Abi G." and "Abi M." and "Ryan." R40, p. 3463-3465, 3473-3475.

Codefendant Jerome Hunter advised picking up Victorino. R40, p. 3475-3476.

As noted by this Florida Supreme Court in <u>Victorino v. State</u>, 23 So.3d 87, 94 (Fla. 2009), "A few days later . . . Victorino went to a park with Graham and the three codefendants to fight another group. Evidence was presented that some of the members of that group were affiliated with the victims at Telford Lane and would have knowledge of Victorino's allegedly stolen property."

It is also important to note at this point that Defendant Victorino admitted in his own jury trial that he did not like Abi G because Abi G had attempted to rape one of his friends. R39, p. 3259.

Although Victorino and his cohorts failed to find these rivals at the park, and although none of these things justify or excuse the subject murders, the entire situation provided Victorino's jurors with a strong basis for finding that Victorino was laboring under considerable provocation at the time of the subject murders. Such provocation, together with the other significant mitigation evidence presented at Victorino's trial (summarized in this Florida Supreme Court's direct-appeal Opinion in Victorino v. State, 23 So.3d 87, 94-96 (Fla. 2009)) create a reasonable probability that, but for the errors of Court and counsel which are identified in this brief, Defendant Victorino would have escaped conviction

altogether or, at a minimum, would have received jury "life" sentence recommendations for *all* of the murders.

Defendant Victorino, Codefendant Jerone Hunter and Codefendant Michael Salas all testified for themselves at the subject, single Jury trial. The testimony of Hunter and Salas gave the jurors good reason to wonder who really did what in the subject crimes and to doubt their characterizations of Victorino as the ringleader controlling everyone else with fear. Hunter testified that Victorino had been inside the Telford Lane house hitting victims with a baseball bat ® 40, p. 3375-3379). However, by his own admission, Hunter was the first person to enter the front door of the Telford Lane house to commit the murders. R40, p. 3375.

Michael Salas testified that Cannon owned a sports-utility vehicle and served as driver. R41, p. 3530. Michael Salas also testified that immediately after the subject killings, Hunter exited the Telford Lane house in a state of "feral joy," bragging about how he killed a female victim who had been begging for her life. R41, p. 3531.

These facts are all crucial to an understanding of why the errors, oversights and mishaps that are complained of in this brief all rendered the subject jury trial unreliable as to Defendant Troy Victorino.

Subject postconviction motion:

Following this Florida Supreme Court's direct-appeal decision in <u>Victorino v. State</u>, 23 So.3d 87 (Fla. 2009), the Defendant filed his subject motion for post-conviction relief. PCR5, p. 559-631. It contains seventeen enumerated claims. However, Defendant withdrew Claims 4 and 13 and proceeded to adjudication only on Claims 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16 and 17.

Claims 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16 are "ineffective assistance of trial counsel" claims. PCR 5, p. 572-624. Claim 17 challenges the constitutionality of Florida's death-sentencing scheme pursuant to a recent Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) progeny case entitled Paul H. Evans vs. Walter A. McNeil, Case No. 08-14402-CIV-MARTINEZ (S.D. Fla. 6-20-2011) PCR 5, p 624-627.

On February 20, 2012, the trial court entered its amended order denying all of the claims in Defendant's subject postconviction motion. PCR6, p. 803-911.

This is an appeal of that amended denial order

No claim that Defendant's trial counsel lacked sufficient experience:

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