# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC12-482

TROY VICTORINO

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT
KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
Fla. Bar No. 998818
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX - (386) 226-0457

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Claims IV and V have been withdrawn. Claim IV is withdrawn in the brief, and Claim V was withdrawn by letter dated ?????.

In this case that language does not appear to make a "Golden Rule" argument. While over time prosecutors have been constrained as to what they can say in closing argument by a whole series of cases which often flattens their affect, the language in this case does not seem to this court to be, a Golden Rule argument. There is no suggestion that the jury put themselves in the place of the victims. The language merely suggests that it is indeed an irony of time and geography as to how their lives ended and who would decide the outcome of the case. (The venue was moved to St. Augustine when a jury could not be empanelled in Deland, Volusia County, Florida) The court therefore finds that there was no Golden Rule argument and, therefore, there has been no deviation from the standard. As a result neither prong of the Strickland test has been established and Claim 6 fails.

(V6, R772-73). (emphasis added). As the collateral proceeding trial court found, the complained-of argument is not improper in the first place -- it is no more than a statement of fact. There is no error, and, as Justice Scalia pointed out in another context in McKoy v. North Carolina, 494 U.S. 433, 467, 110 S.Ct. 1227, 1246 (1990), the most that can be said for the claim is that nothing can be said against it. The denial of relief was proper.

VII. THE "REMARKS AROUSING FEAR IN THE JURORS"

On pages 53-57 of his brief, Victorino says that the prosecutor's closing-argument example of "vicarious culpability" was improper because it was "intended to arouse fear in the jurors." The collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on this claim:

The defendant next asserts that the prosecutor's guilt phase argument where the prosecutor used an example of vicarious culpability by saying, ". . . a wife hires a hit man, hit man goes up to New York and kills husband. Wife is not present. Is she responsible? You better believe it. It is a good thing, too. Or life might not be as safe as it is." The defendant asserts that this is an impermissible statement intended to arouse fear in the jurors which the defense counsel did not object to.

The court has reviewed the arguments and statements by the defendant and cannot conclude that an objection would have had any merit because there is no suggestion that the argument was designed to or in fact aroused fear in the jurors. It appears that neither of the Strickland prongs have been met. It also appears that, at least for this claim, this is a mere sidebar to the very substantial and meaningful evidence that was presented, considered and evaluated by the jury and in no way, even if had been objected to, could have caused prejudice.

(V6, R773-74). That result is completely correct -- there has been no showing of prejudice (especially in light of the uncontested facts of these murders), nor has there been any showing that any objection would have been sustained. Victorino cannot establish either prong of Strickland, and the trial court properly denied relief. The fact that counsel did not object indicates that the statement played, at trial, as being just as insignificant as it now reads in the transcript. See, Sawyer v. Butler, 881 F.2d 1273, 1279 (5th Cir. 1989) (en banc). The denial of relief was proper.

VIII. THE "FAILURE TO REBUT THE ARMED BURGLARY" CLAIM

On pages 57-60 of his brief, Victorino says that trial counsel were ineffective for not "rebutting" the armed burglary charge. Given that Victorino's defense theory was alibi (See pages 5, 13, above), this claim is inconsistent with that theory of defense. Unless Victorino is abandoning his alibi theory or otherwise conceding that it has no basis, this inconsistent and mutually exclusive claim has no place here.

In any event, the collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on this claim:

The defendant asserts that the prosecutor argued during the guilt-phase closing, in support of the felony murder rule theory, that the defendant and codefendant entered the Telford house to commit armed burglary. The defendant asserts that trial counsel gave no rebuttal to this claim in their own guilt-phase closing argument.

The claim does not assert any meaningful violation of either prong of the Strickland test. The court is unable to understand why the defendant can even postulate a change in outcome because the purpose of Telford house was Victorino's trip to the different than that argued. If he was going to pick up his stolen property he nonetheless was found guilty of committing the six murders and the court is struck that it would be baseless to try to suggest that such a minor differential in the purpose for his being there would somehow change anyone's thinking on the case. Neither of the prongs of the Strickland case has been established and Claim 8 fails. In addition it is obviously sound trial strategy not to make such such serious arguments in a Specifically, "strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if alternative and rejected have been considered counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct." Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000). It is difficult to fathom that a noble purpose for Mr. Victorino's visit to the Telford property could even be effectively argued without conceding his alibi defense was manufactured. Claim 8 must fail.

(V??, R774-75). (emphasis added). There is nothing that can be added to the order. This claim fails on the facts, and is not a basis for relief.

### IX. THE "STATE DID A WONDERFUL JOB" CLAIM

On pages 60-63 of his brief, Victorino says that trial counsel was ineffective for saying, in closing argument, that the "prosecution has done a wonderful job." Defense counsel explained the basis for this comment at the evidentiary hearing as being part of his routine practice which is intended to avoid an adverse impression of him by the jury. See page 12, above. In denying relief on this claim, the trial court said:

Similar to Claim 5 the only evidence presented came from Jeff Dowdy and Mike Nielsen who were Mr. Victorino's trial counsel. Neither indicated that they were troubled by the fact that a statement was made that "the prosecution has done a wonderful job here" during the guilt phase closing argument. Both indicated that is a normal practice and it admits nothing other than the obvious and allows them to use that as a platform and then branch out and show what the State has missed or overlooked. There was no contrary testimony on that point.

Again, in this proceeding the burden of proof calls on the defendant to identify the specific acts or omissions that demonstrate counsel's performance was unreasonable on a prevailing professional norm. Duest, id. There is no evidence to demonstrate that Claim 9 constitutes any unreasonable conduct on counsel's part. As a result neither prong of the Strickland test has been established and Claim 9 must

fail. In addition, as stated in Claim 8, "strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if alternative courses have been considered and rejected and counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct." Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000). Mr. Victorino's attorneys declined to object based on sound trial strategy so that an ineffective claim cannot be made.

(V6, R775). (emphasis added). Victorino failed to carry his burden of proving any deficiency on the part of counsel, and has not shown prejudice as *Strickland* requires. There is no basis for relief.

### X. THE "VICTIM IMPACT" INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIM

On pages 63-71 of his brief, Victorino says that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to certain "victim impact" evidence. Even though there were six victims in this case, the "victim impact" presentation was limited to 44 pages of the record. (DAR, V45, R4067-70; 4070-78, 4080-81; 4081-83; R4083-89; 4089-92; 4092-94; 4099-4105; 4108-09; 4110-12).

Moreover, the jury was properly instructed about the evaluation of that evidence. (DAR, V51, R5017) The trial court denied relief on this claim, finding:

Claim 10 asserts ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to object to emotional "grief' and "mourning" testimony of the deceased victims' relatives and friends. The State takes the position that failure to make an objection to improper evidence "renders the claim procedurally barred absent fundamental error." McGirth v. State, 48 So. 3d 777 (Fla. 2010). The court has reviewed the proposition asserted by the defendant and finds that none of that evidence is of

the type of evidence that is impermissible under Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808 (1991). Wheeler v. State, 47 So. 3d 599 (Fla. 2009); Huggins v. State, 889 So. 2d 743 (Fla. 2004); Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 2001). Since none of the evidence is improper, counsel cannot be faulted for "failing" to object. Neither of the Strickland prongs can be established by this claim.

The introduction of victim impact evidence is allowed both constitutionally and procedurally in capital cases. The evidence does not bear on the actual issues decided by the jury but is nonetheless allowed. In this particular case there were six young people who were victims of these violent murders. The testimony presented and allowed by the court was well constrained consistent with the court's responsibility. Any further objection would have been to no avail and, therefore, the *Strickland* test cannot be met and Claim 10 fails.

(V6, R776). (emphasis added). No further discussion is required -- there was nothing to object to, and therefore there can be no ineffectiveness of counsel.

#### XI. THE "ALIBI DEFENSE" CLAIM

On pages 71-79 of his brief, Victorino says that his trial counsel were constitutionally ineffective for presenting the alibi defense that he insisted that they present. The trial court made the following findings of fact about this claim:

Claim 11 asserts that trial counsel were ineffective in failing to establish alibi witnesses and in presenting what it now claims is an unbelievable and damaging alibi defense. Both Mr. Dowdy and Mr. Nielsen testified in regard to the alibi witness. They both conceded that Mr. Victorino had indicated that he was not guilty of the murders that were charged and that he was not at the scene where the crimes occurred. Mr. Victorino, the client in this case, insisted on the alibi defense. It initially

### looked viable to both trial counsel.

the attorneys indicated that the Both of witnesses were vetted by their team which included experienced private investigators and the defense seemed to be viable. A concern was raised during the course of the trial preparation when Mr. Victorino's wear DNA was found in his boots which also had victims' blood on the outside of the shoe. Mr. Victorino's confident response was, "someone else was wearing them at the time" presumably in an interest to frame him for the murders. Mr. Victorino insisted that he was not guilty and was not present even when confronted with the DNA testimony. Mr. Victorino insisted that they present the alibi which they did.

(V6, R776-77). (emphasis added). Those findings of fact dispose of this claim -- counsel's performance cannot have been deficient in the face of Victorino's insistence on an alibidefense.

The trial court evaluated this claim even further, and rejected it:

the burden of demonstrating counsel's performance was unreasonable under prevailing norms The defendant must show that has not been met. counsel's errors must be "so serious that counsel was functioning as the `counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Strickland, id. In this case the lawyers clearly did what they could do test the alibi defense. When confronted with a difficult fact scenario involving the DNA evidence, they confronted Mr. Victorino. He insisted that he did not commit the murders, was not present and wanted the alibi defense to move forward. There is no evidence that either prong of Strickland has been met and there is no showing as to this claim that there has been a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

(V6, R778). (emphasis added). This claim has no legal basis,

and was properly rejected. It is not a basis for relief.

## XII. THE "GURESOME PHOTOGRAPHS" CLAIM

On pages 79-84 of his brief, Victorino says that trial counsel were ineffective for not objecting to five (5) specific photographs. *Initial Brief*, at 80. The trial court rejected this claim, and, in so doing, made detailed findings about the photographs that were (and more importantly, were not) introduced:

The ineffective assistance claim involves .an assertion that counsel failed to object to gruesome photographs. This court, having been required to spend half a day in a sealed room with all the exhibits in contemplation of the appropriate decision regarding the death penalty, has examined all of the photographs that were introduced at time of trial in great detail. The court has also examined a large number of very gruesome photographs that did not come into evidence.

In the context of this case, the State did not stipulate as to the cause or manner of death for the six people that were murdered at the Telford house. Mr. Victorino, Mr. Hunter, Mr. Salas and Mr. Cannon entered the Telford house and unmercifully beat the six young victims to death causing them horrifying injuries and ultimately death. The entire house was bodies in different ofravaged with states destruction and there was blood splatter on the floors, walls and ceilings of the home.

There were ten people in the home at the time of these murders. Six of them are dead and cannot speak. Three of the defendants were on trial for the murders. Mr. Cannon had pled to the murders and was called to the witness stand by the State obviously to be the commentator on what happened within the four walls of that house while the murders were taking place. To the benefit of each of the defendants on trial, Mr. Cannon was reluctant in providing much of

the detail that had been expected from him which left the jury only the forensic evidence and views of the scene to piece together who did what to whom. The State had a right to prove its case with as much detail as is necessary without exposing the defendant to unreasonably gruesome photographs that would have no other reasonable purpose. These were gruesome murders, which is a fact of life. It would be hard to conclude that any juror was surprised by what they saw.

greatly concerned with this court, entertained pretrial hearings on motions in limine and preliminary matters. The court only allowed a small number of photographs but carefully tried to avoid any unnecessary duplication for exactly the reasons that raised. The defense attorneys were participants in that enterprise where in fact they discharged their duty in limiting the photographic evidence the State otherwise wanted to have. If the evidence had been any more limited the State, which also had a right to a fair trial, would not have had an opportunity to adequately prove its case.

There has been absolutely no showing that counsel for the defendant could have raised any objections that would have been sustained in light of the history and details of this case. There is absolutely no showing that counsel's performance as unreasonable under prevailing professional norms. Duest, id. Neither prong of the Strickland case has been established and Claim 12 has not been established.

(V6, R778-79). (emphasis added). There was, as the trial court found, no possibility that the defense would be able to keep every photograph away from the jury. The facts, which the trial court recognized, were that there were six victims, all of whom had been beaten to death -- the photographs are no doubt unpleasant, but those whose work product includes murdered human beings should not be heard to complain when the jury sees photos

or their handiwork. *Henderson v. State*, 463 So. 2d 196, 200 (Fla. 1985). There was no ineffectiveness of counsel because Victorino has not established either prong of *Strickland*. There is no basis for relief.

## XIV. THE "EDWARDS TESTIMONY" 10

On pages 84-89 of his brief, Victorino says that trial counsel were ineffective because they did not call Dorona Edwards as a mitigation witness. The trial court rejected this claim, and, in so doing, made various credibility findings which are supported by the evidence. In finding that Victorino has satisfied neither prong of *Strickland*, the trial court said:

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